# The Chemistry of Thietane Ligands in Polynuclear Metal Carbonyl Complexes

Richard D. Adams\* and Stephen B. Falloon

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina 29208

Received May 26, 1995 (Revised Manuscript Received July 5, 1995)

# Contents

1.	Introduction	2587
2.	Terminally Coordinated Thietane Ligands	2588
3.	Bridging Thietane Ligands	2589
4.	Ring-Opening Reactions—Thermal and Photochemical	2590
5.	Ring-Opening Carbonylation of Thietanes	2591
6.	Nucleophilic Ring Opening of Thietane Ligands	2592
7.	Ring-Opening Oligomerization and Cyclooligomerization of Thietanes by Cluster Complexes	2593
8.	The Catalytic Cyclooligomerization of Thietanes	2595
9.	Coordination of Thietane Cyclooligomers to Metal Clusters	2596
10.	Acknowledgments	2597
11.	References	2598

# 1. Introduction

Small ring compounds can be valuable reagents because they contain a supply of energy as a result of their ring strain and thus can engage in a wide range of exothermic ring opening reactions.<sup>1</sup> Strained ring heterocycles are of particular interest because the heteroatoms can introduce useful functionality into the products.<sup>2</sup> There are two important families of saturated strained ring heterocycles that contain sulfur: thiiranes and thietanes.



The thiiranes<sup>3</sup> are based on three-membered rings and thietanes are based on four membered rings.<sup>4</sup> Thiiranes are readily polymerized both by Lewis acids and by Lewis bases.<sup>5</sup> Thiiranes also undergo facile elimination of sulfur to yield the corresponding olefin.<sup>3,6</sup> The desulfurization of thiiranes is promoted by metal atoms,<sup>7</sup> and through this reaction these molecules have been found to serve as clean sources of monatomic sulfur for use in the synthesis of polynuclear metal complexes containing sulfido ligands.<sup>8</sup>

Interestingly, thietanes have only slightly less strain energy than thiiranes (80.3 kJ/mol versus 81.1 kJ/mol).<sup>9</sup> On clean metal surfaces thietanes are readily desulfurized, even at low temperatures, with the formation of alkenes and cyclopropane.<sup>10, 11</sup> Friend and co-workers have studied the reaction of thietane on the molybdenum(110) crystal surface.<sup>10</sup> Three



Richard D. Adams received a B.S. degree in 1969 from The Pennsylvania State University and a Ph.D. in chemistry in 1973 from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology for research performed under the direction of F. A. Cotton. He was an Assistant Professor of Chemistry at SUNY Buffalo, from 1973 to 1975 and Assistant and Associate Professor at Yale from 1975 to 1984. He has been Professor of Chemistry at the University of South Carolina since 1984. His research interests lie in the synthesis, structures, and catalytic properties of metal carbonyl cluster complexes.



Stephen B. Falloon received his B.S. degree in 1989 from the University of Delaware. He received his Ph.D. degree in 1995 from the University of South Carolina under the direction of Professor Richard D. Adams. He was the recipient of the Guy Lipscomb Graduate Research Award and the Sigma Xi Graduate Research Career Award in 1995 at the University of South Carolina. He is currently holding a postdoctoral position with Dr. John A. Gladysz at the University of Utah.

organic products; propene, propane, and cyclopropane, were formed; see Figure 1. Cyclopropane formation was proposed to occur by the direct cleavage of the two C-S bonds (pathway A). Propene and propane formation are believed to occur by stepwise or sequential cleavages of C-S bonds and involve interactions with adventitious hydrogen on the metal surface (pathways B-C and B-D).

Like thiiranes, thietanes are also readily polymerized by Lewis acids **A** and Lewis bases **B**: (Figure 2).<sup>4,12</sup>



Figure 1. A schematic of the reactions of thietane on a molybdenum surface.



Figure 2. A representation of the general form polymerization reactions of thietane by Lewis acids A and Lewis bases B:.

Unlike thiiranes, thietanes are sufficiently stable to serve as effective ligands in metal complexes through the coordination of one or both of the lone pairs of electrons on the sulfur atom. In the latter case the molecules are invariably found as bridging ligands between two metal atoms. In this review, the coordination chemistry of thietane ligands in polynuclear metal carbonyl complexes (also known as cluster compounds) in both the terminal coordination mode and the bridging coordination mode is discussed. This will include an extensive discussion of ring opening and cyclooligomerization transformations of these ligands. The review will conclude with a summary of recent studies of the coordination of thietane cyclooligomers (polythioether macrocycles) to metal cluster complexes.

### 2. Terminally Coordinated Thietane Ligands

The first thietane complexes were prepared by Abel et al.<sup>13</sup> In most cases, thietane complexes are prepared by simple ligand substitution reactions. Spectral analyses indicate that thietane ligands have a pyramidal geometry at the sulfur atom with only one of the lone pairs of electrons on the sulfur being coordinated to the metal atom. These ligands readily undergo inversion of configuration at the sulfur atom at rates which are usually rapid on the NMR time scale at ambient temperatures (eq 1).<sup>14</sup>



The first structural characterization of a cluster complex containing a terminally coordinated thietane ligand was reported in 1990 for the complex,  $Os_3(CO)_{11}[SCH_2CH_2CH_2]$  (1, Figure 3).<sup>15</sup> The thietane ligand is coordinated to only one of the three osmium atoms. The ligand is non-planar with a C-S-C/C-C-C dihedral angle of 28°. A terminally coordinated thietane ligand was recently characterized crystallographically in the mononuclear ruthenium complex [CpRu(PPh<sub>3</sub>)(SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)][O<sub>3</sub>SCF<sub>3</sub>].<sup>16</sup>



Figure 3. An ORTEP diagram of the molecular structure of  $Os_3(CO)_{11}[SCH_2CH_2CH_2]$  (1).

In this complex the dihedral angle of the thietane ligand is 29.4°. The structure of the thietane ligand does not differ significantly from that reported for the free molecule in the gas phase.<sup>17</sup> In the free molecule the dihedral angle is 26° and the C–S distances are 1.85 Å. In the ligand the C–S distances are 1.83(2) and 1.85(2) Å<sup>15</sup> and 1.823(8) and 1.828(9) Å.<sup>16</sup>

Thietane ligands undergo transformations involving C-H bond cleavage at the ring carbon atom at the 3-position. These transformations can be blocked by the placement of methyl groups at the 3-position. Thus, it has been possible to prepare a greater variety of thietane complexes by using 3,3-dimethylthietane (3,3-DMT). For example, the disubstituted complex 1.2-Re<sub>2</sub>(CO)<sub>8</sub>( $SCH_2CMe_2CH_2$ )<sub>2</sub> (2) was obtained from the reaction of 3,3-DMT with  $Re_2(CO)_8[\mu-C(H)-$ CBu<sup>n</sup>].<sup>18</sup> In the presence of fluorescent room light, this compound was transformed and isomerized in methylene chloride solutions to three new compounds:  $1,1-\text{Re}_2(\text{CO})_8(\dot{\text{SCH}}_2\text{CMe}_2\dot{\text{CH}}_2)_2$  (3), Re<sub>2</sub>- $(CO)_9(\dot{S}CH_2CMe_2\dot{C}H_2)$  (4), and cis-ReCl(CO)<sub>4</sub>( $\dot{S}CH_2$ - $CMe_2CH_2$ , (5), the latter was obtained by reaction with the solvent; see Scheme 1. Each of these four complexes contains at least one terminally coordinated 3,3-DMT ligand. In compound 2 the thietane ligands are coordinated to different metal atoms, while in **3** they are both bonded to the same metal atom in coordination sites *cis* to the Re-Re bond. These thietane ligands are also nonplanar. The dihedral C-S-C/C-C-C angles in 2, 3, 4, and 5 are 22.1°, 24.6°, 5.2°, and 25.6°, respectively. The structural analysis of 4 is of high quality; therefore, the small dihedral angle, 5.2°, is believed to be an accurate value. This could indicate that the energy well, related to ligand folding, is fairly shallow in this case and perhaps all cases.





 $\label{eq:main_state} \begin{array}{c} \hline Treatment of the dinuclear complex Mn_2(CO)_8(SCH_2-CMe_2CH_2) (\textbf{6}) with HCl yielded the thietane complex \\ \hline [Mn(CO)_3(SCH_2CMe_2CH_2)(\mu\text{-}Cl)]_2 (\textbf{7}) and HMn(CO)_5 \\ \hline (Scheme \ 2).^{19} \end{array}$ 

#### Scheme 2



Compound 6 contains a bridging 3,3-DMT ligand and will be described in the next section. Compound 7 contains two 3,3-DMT ligands, one on each metal atom. A *trans*-isomer which has the two 3,3-DMT ligands on opposite sides of the molecule was characterized crystallographically, but in solution it exists as a mixture of isomers. There is no metal-metal bond in 7,  $Mn \cdot Mn = 3.578(1)$  Å, and the metal atoms are held together by the bridging chloride ligands. The C-S-C/C-C-C dihedral angle in the 3,3-DMT ligands is 24.9°.

### 3. Bridging Thietane Ligands

By employing both of the lone pairs of electrons, thietane ligands can adopt a bridging coordination mode with simultaneous bonding to two metal atoms. The metal atoms can be separated, structure  $\mathbf{A}$ , or mutually bonded as in structure  $\mathbf{B}$ .



There are no known examples of thietane ligands bridging three or more atoms. Such a bonding situation may be unstable, since the sulfur atom has only two lone pairs of electrons and the coordinate bonds between the metal and sulfur atoms usually adopt a two-center two-electron type, but it is not impossible to imagine and examples may be found someday.

The first structurally characterized complex of the

type A was  $[CpMn(CO)_2]_2[\mu-\dot{S}CH_2CMe_2CH_2]$  (8) where each lone pair of electrons on the sulfur atom is coordinated to a different  $CpMn(CO)_2$  grouping.<sup>20</sup>



The first cluster complex containing a bridging thietane ligand of the type  $\mathbf{B}$  was  $Os_3(CO)_{10}$ -



Figure 4. An ORTEP diagram of the molecular structure of  $Os_3(CO)_{10}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CM<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>] (9).

 $[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>] (9) which was obtained from the reaction of 3,3-DMT with Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>(NCMe)<sub>2</sub>; see Figure 4.<sup>21</sup>

The complex was characterized crystallographically, and the C-S-C/C-C-C dihedral angle in the 3,3-DMT ligand at 20.6° is slightly smaller than that found for terminally coordinated 3,3-DMT ligands. The Os-S-Os angle is quite acute,  $73.1(2)^\circ$ , and may contain some strain from the bonding to the metal atoms.

The reactions of 3,3-DMT and thietane with Re<sub>3</sub>-(CO)<sub>10</sub>(NCMe)<sub>2</sub>( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> have yielded the new complexes Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>[ $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>]( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> (**10a**) and Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>-[ $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>]( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> (**10b**).<sup>22</sup> Compound **10a** was



structurally characterized and was found to contain a closed trirhenium cluster and a bridging thietane ligand coordinated through its sulfur atom. The molecule is very similar to that of **9** but has three bridging hydride ligands, one across each of the Re-Re bonds to account for the fact that Re has one less electron than osmium. The C-S-C/C-C-C dihedral angle in the 3,3-DMT ligand is 12.4°.

Decarbonylation of the complex  $Mn_2(CO)_9$ -(SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>) with Me<sub>3</sub>NO yields the complex **6** (shown schematically in Scheme 3) by transformation of the terminal thietane ligand into a bridging ligand. There is a Mn-Mn single bond [Mn-Mn = 2.8243(9) Å], but the M-S-M angle is significantly larger than that in found in **9** [79.48(4)°]. The C-S-C/C-C-C dihedral angle of the 3,3-DMT ligand in **6** is 24.7°.<sup>19</sup>

The reactions of  $Os_3(CO)_{10}(\mu_3-S)$  with 3,3-DMT or thietane in the presence of  $Me_3NO$  yielded the

Scheme 3



complexes  $Os_3(CO)_9(\mu_3-S)[\mu-\dot{S}CH_2CMe_2\dot{C}H_2]$  (11a) and

 $Os_3(CO)_9(\mu_3-S)[\mu-SCH_2CH_2CH_2], (11b)$ , respectively.<sup>23</sup> Compound 11a was characterized structurally. In these compounds, the thietane ligands bridge two metal atoms that are not themselves mutually bonded. Thus, the Os-S-Os angle at the bridging sulfur atom of the thietane ligand at 99.8(1)° is much larger than that in 9.



 $Os_4(CO)_{12}(\mu$ -CO) $[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>] (**12**) was one of several products obtained from the pyrolysis of **9**.<sup>24</sup> The structure of this molecule consists of a butterfly tetrahedron of four osmium atoms with the thietane ligand situated as a bridge between the nonbonded wingtip metal atoms.<sup>25</sup> The pucker in the 3,3-DMT ligand is only 18.2° and the Os-S-Os angle is 104.3-(1)°

When  $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$  is allowed to react with 3,3-DMT, the tetraruthenium complex  $\operatorname{Ru}_4(\operatorname{CO})_{12}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>-CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>]<sub>2</sub>, **13** is formed.<sup>26</sup> This complex contains a puckered square of four ruthenium atoms with two 3,3-DMT ligands bridging nonbonded pairs of ruthenium atoms across the cluster on opposite sides. Compound **13** reacts with CO by displacement of one of the DMT ligands to yield the butterfly cluster

complex  $\operatorname{Ru}_4(\operatorname{CO})_{13}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>] (14) which is structurally analogous to 12. This reaction is reversible; see Scheme 4.

#### Scheme 4



# 4. Ring-Opening Reactions—Thermal and Photochemical

Compound 1 is decarbonylated when exposed to UV-vis irradiation to yield the complex  $Os_3(CO)_{10}(\mu$ -

SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>) (**15**) which contains a thiametallacyclic ring formed by the insertion of one of the metal atoms into one of the S-C bonds of the thietane ligand. The propenethiolato complex Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>-( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CH=CH<sub>2</sub>)( $\mu$ -H) (**16**) was also formed in small amounts, but this was shown to be a product derived from **15** by a thermal rearrangement involving an intramolecular  $\beta$ -CH elimination reaction in **15**; see Scheme 5.<sup>15b</sup>

Scheme 5



Photolysis of **8** yields the corresponding dimethyl homologue of **15**,  $Os_3(CO)_{10}(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>) (**17**).<sup>24</sup> Interestingly, the reaction of  $Os_3(CO)_{10}(NCMe)_2$  with *trans*-2,4,-diphenylthietane yielded the metallacyclic complex  $Os_3(CO)_{10}(\mu$ -SC(H)PhCH<sub>2</sub>C(H)Ph) as a mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-isomers **18a** and **18b** without irradiation.<sup>27</sup>



The formation of isomers suggests the involvement of radical intermediates in the ring-opening process. This may be facilitated by the presence of the phenyl rings in this case. Interestingly, **18b** slowly isomerizes to **18a** in solution, presumably via homolysis of the Os-C bond. Compounds **18a,b** undergo facile intramolecular  $\beta$ -CH elimination to yield triosmium clusters analogous to **16** containing 1,3-diphenylpropenethiolato ligands. Compound **17** cannot undergo C-H activation at the 3-position because of the presence of the methyl groups at this site. Instead, the thermal decarbonylation of **17** produces an  $\alpha$ -CH cleavage to convert the metal-bound carbon atom into a bridging carbene ligand in the complex Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>( $\mu_3$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH)( $\mu$ -H) (**19**, Scheme 6). Pyrolysis of





complex 19 leads to an activation of a C-H bond on one of the methyl groups and an elimination of one of the osmium atoms to yield the diosmium complex  $Os_2(CO)_6[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe(CH<sub>2</sub>)CH<sub>2</sub>]( $\mu$ -H) (20).

When solutions of **3** are exposed to fluorescent room light, the compound undergoes a series of ringopening isomerizations to yield the complexes  $Re_2(CO)_8(SCH_2CMe_2CH_2)(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)(**21**), and  $[Re(CO)_4(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)]\_2 (**22**) that contain one and two thiametallacycles, respectively (Scheme 7).<sup>18</sup>

Scheme 7



Interestingly, the two thiametallacycles in **22** are joined by a sulfur-sulfur bond [S-S = 2.121(3) Å]. The sulfur atoms in the thiametallacyclic rings have one lone pair of electrons and pyramidal geometries.

Recently, Rakowski-DuBois and co-workers have reported that the cationic dimolybdenum complex  $[Cp_2Mo_2(\mu-SMe_2)(\mu-SMe)(\mu-S_2CH_2)]^+$  (23) reacts with thietane to form the sulfido complex  $[Cp_2Mo_2(\mu-S)-(\mu-SMe)(\mu-S_2CH_2)]^+$  (24) and cyclopropane by desulfurization of thietane, (Scheme 8).<sup>28</sup> Cyclopro-

Scheme 8



pane has been observed to form from the reaction of thietane on molybdenum surfaces,<sup>10,11</sup> but this is the only example of cyclopropane formation from thietane produced by a metal complex.

Interestingly, intramolecular ring-opening reactions have not yet been observed with the rhenium complexes, **10a,b**. Perhaps, the bridging hydride ligands in these complexes play some inhibitory role toward these transformations.

### 5. Ring-Opening Carbonylation of Thietanes

It has been shown that mononuclear metal complexes can promote the ring-opening expansion of thietane rings by the insertion of selected small molecules and ions into a carbon-sulfur bond.<sup>29-31</sup> Alper and co-workers have shown that thietanes can be combined with CO catalytically to yield  $\gamma$ -thiobutyrolactones by using  $Co_2(CO)_8$  or  $Ru_3(CO)_{12}$  as catalyst precursors, (Scheme 9).<sup>32</sup> No organometallic

Scheme 9



intermediates were identified or proposed in this report. However, in view of the results described in section 4 of this review, one could anticipate that metal-induced opening of the thietane rings is involved.<sup>32</sup> In this regard, Adams et al. have shown that the pyrolysis of compound 13 yields two hexanuclear ruthenium complexes:  $Ru_6(CO)_{13}(\mu_3-SCH_2 CMe_2CH_2)_4$  (25) and  $Ru_6(CO)_{12}(\mu_3-SCH_2CMe_2CH_2)_4$ - $(\mu_3$ -S(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>Me) (26) that contain four and five ringopened thietane groupings, respectively.<sup>33</sup> Clearly, many steps were involved in the formation of these compounds and the mechanism of their formation has not been established, but it was shown that compound **26** can be obtained from **25** by a ring opening addition of 1 equiv of 3,3-DMT. There are no intact thietane ligands in compounds 25 or 26. All of the thietane rings have been opened and transformed into thiametallacycles. Interestingly, when 25 was treated with CO at 500 psi/95 °C, 4,4-dimethylthiobutyrolactone and Ru<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>12</sub> was formed (Scheme 10).

Scheme 10



It seems likely that the CO coupling process would occur by the traditional CO insertion mechanism into the metal-carbon bond in the thiametallacycles. Evidence to support this was obtained from another closely related system, the carbonylation of compound 17.<sup>24</sup> The addition of CO to 17 proceeds first by an opening of the cluster by addition of a CO ligand to one of the metal atoms to yield the complex Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>11</sub>- $(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>) (27). In a second addition, a CO ligand is inserted into the metal-carbon bond of the thiametallacycle in 27 to form an acyl function in the complex Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>11</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>) (27). Both 27 and 28 have been characterized structurally.

At a slightly higher temperature and higher pressure of CO, a bond is formed between the acyl carbon atom and the sulfur atom and the molecule 4,4dimethylthiobutyrolactone is formed and expelled from the complex. The cluster is converted to  $Os_{3}$ -(CO)<sub>12</sub>. Unfortunately,  $Os_{3}(CO)_{12}$  does not react with 3,3-DMT under sufficiently mild conditions to per-



form its carbonylation to 4,4-dimethylthiobutyrolactone catalytically.<sup>33</sup>

# 6. Nucleophilic Ring Opening of Thietane Ligands<sup>34</sup>

Most of the cluster complexes containing bridging thietane ligands were found to undergo surprisingly facile nucleophilic addition reactions that result in an opening of the thietane ring by cleavage of one of the carbon-sulfur bonds and the addition of the nucleophile to the carbon atom (e.g. eq 2, N:<sup>-</sup> = halide or OEt). The addition of negatively charged nucleophiles to neutral complexes produces negatively charged complexes which are often neutralized by treatment with H<sup>+</sup> to stabilize the complexes for easier handling.



Treatment of **9** with the nucleophiles F<sup>-</sup>, Cl<sup>-</sup>, Br<sup>-</sup>, I<sup>-</sup>, and EtO<sup>-</sup> at 25 °C yielded after protonation the series of new complexes  $Os_3(CO)_{10}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>X]- $(\mu$ -H) (**29a**-e, X = F, Cl, Br, I, OEt).<sup>35</sup> The yields increased in the order F<sup>-</sup> < Cl<sup>-</sup> < Br<sup>-</sup> < I<sup>-</sup>. The reaction of **9** with the nucleophilic secondary amines Et<sub>2</sub>NH and (CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>NH yielded the related complexes  $Os_3(CO)_{10}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>X]( $\mu$ -H) [**30a**, **b**, X = NEt<sub>2</sub>, N(CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>] without a protonation step since the hydrogen atom on the nitrogen atom was shifted to the cluster. The mechanism of the addition was established by examining the stereochemistry of the addition of iodide to the related complex  $Os_3(CO)_{10}[\mu$ trans-SC(H)MeCH<sub>2</sub>C(H)Me] (**31**) which was prepared as an equimolar mixture of 2*R*,4*R*- and 2*S*,4*S*-

enantiomers. Two products 2S,4R- and 2R,4Senantiomers. Two products 2S,4R- and 2R,4S-Os<sub>3</sub>-(CO)<sub>10</sub>[ $\mu$ -SC(H)MeCH<sub>2</sub>C(H)Me(I)]( $\mu$ -H) (**32**) were obtained. The stereochemistry of the products indicates the occurrence of an inversion of configuration in the stereochemistry of the iodide containing carbon atom (Scheme 12) which is consistent with a nucleophilic backside addition mechanism.

Compounds **10a** and **10b** also undergo facile nucleophilic ring-opening additions reactions. Halide additions produce the anionic complexes [Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>X)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> (**33a**-d, X = F, Cl, Br, I) and [Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>Cl)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub>]<sup>-</sup> (**34b**).<sup>22</sup>



Interestingly, it was not possible to neutralize these anions by protonation with acetic acid. This may be a consequence of the presence of hydride ligands on each of the three Re–Re bonds. Surprisingly, even the very weak donor NMe<sub>3</sub> will add to **10a** and **10b** to yield the ring-opened complexes Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>-CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NMe<sub>3</sub>)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub>, (**35a**) and Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>-CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NMe<sub>3</sub>)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> (**35b**). The latter is shown in Figure 5. These complexes are zwitterionic in character with a positive charge on the nitrogen atom and a negative charge on the thiolato sulfur atom.



**Figure 5.** An ORTEP diagram of the molecular structure of  $\text{Re}_3(\text{CO})_{10}(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NMe<sub>3</sub>)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> (**34b**). The bridging hydride ligands are not shown.

Attempts to produce ring-opening additions to the bridging thietane ligand in **10b** by reaction with the tertiary phosphine, PMe<sub>2</sub>Ph, yielded only Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>10</sub>(PMe<sub>2</sub>Ph)<sub>2</sub>( $\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> by displacement of the thietane ligand.<sup>22</sup> To date, ring opening additions of halides have been achieved *only* upon bridging thietane ligands. An attempt to produce a ring-opening addition of iodide to the terminally coordinated 3,3-DMT ligand in the complex Re<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>11</sub>(SCH<sub>2</sub>-

 $CMe_2CH_2(\mu-H)_3$  yielded only the ligand substitution complex  $[Re_3(CO)_{11}I(\mu-H)_3]^-$ .

The mechanism of activation of the bridging thietane ligand to nucleophilic attack is a very simple one: the removal of electron density from the sulfur atom by the metal atoms; see structure **B**. This in turn leads to a loss of some electron density at the neighboring carbon atoms which is evidently sufficient to allow the addition of these simple nucleophiles under these mild conditions. This mechanism should also be operative for terminally coordinated thietane ligands C, but since the sulfur atom is coordinated to only one metal atom, the activation is evidently insufficient to allow the nucleophilic ring-opening reaction to occur.



It is believed that ring strain also plays an important role in the nucleophilic ring-opening additions that have been observed for thietane ligands, but ring strain is probably not a requirement since it has been reported recently that an unstrained bridging tetrahydrothiophene ligand (THT) in the complex  $Cl_3W(\mu-$ THT)<sub>3</sub>WCl<sub>3</sub> also undergoes ring-opening addition reactions with nucleophiles.<sup>36</sup>

The reaction of the open cluster **11a** with bis-(triphenylphosphoranylidene)ammonium chloride ([PPN]Cl) also yielded the ring-opened chloride addition product [PPN][Os<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>9</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>Cl)-( $\mu_3$ -S)] (**36**, Scheme 13), but unlike the reaction of **9**,

#### Scheme 13



attempts to open the ring of **11a** with  $Et_2NH$  were unsuccessful. The reason for this is not clear, but it could be related to the fact that the metal atoms bridged by the thietane ligand in **11a** are not mutually bonded.

Similarly, the reaction of 12 with [PPN]Cl produced a ring-opening chloride addition to the thietane ligand to yield the salt [PPN][Os<sub>4</sub>(CO)<sub>12</sub>( $\mu$ -CO)-( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>Cl)] (37) which was structurally characterized in the form of the protonated neutral complex Os<sub>4</sub>(CO)<sub>13</sub>( $\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>Cl)( $\mu$ -H) (38).<sup>25</sup> Compound 38 can be obtained in one step from the reaction of 12 with HCl (Scheme 14).

#### Scheme 14



A product formed by a ring-opening addition of chloride to thietane was obtained from the reaction of the dipalladium complex  $[Pd(\mu-Cl)Cl(PMe_3)]_2$  (39) with thietane.<sup>37</sup> A 3-chloropropanethiolato ligand was found in the product  $Pd_2Cl_2(PMe_3)_2(\mu-SCH_2CH_2-CH_2Cl)(\mu-Cl)$  (40) in which the sulfur atom bridges the two metal atoms. Interestingly, a mechanism involving mononuclear intermediates and a series of oxidative addition and reductive elimination transformations was proposed to explain the formation of this product (Scheme 15).

#### Scheme 15



# 7. Ring-Opening Oligomerization and Cyclooligomerization of Thietanes by Cluster Complexes

In view of the tendency of coordinated thietanes to undergo ring-opening nucleophilic additions, it is not too surprising that oligomerizations, presumably as a result of ring-opening addition of thietane to thietane ligands, were observed fairly early in the study of the coordination chemistry of thietanes in polynuclear metal complexes. Indeed, the first example of a cluster-promoted oligomerization accompanied the report of the synthesis of complex **9** containing a bridging thietane ligand.<sup>21</sup>

The reaction of 9 with 3,3-DMT at 25 °C yielded the complex  $Os_3(CO)_{10}[(\mu-SCH_2CMe_2CH_2)_3]$  (41) which contains a 1-osmium-substituted 2,2,6,6,10,10-hexamethyl-4,8-dithiaundecanethiolato ligand. This ligand was formed by ring-opening head-to-tail addition of two 3,3-DMT molecules to 9. The reaction is believed to proceed by a nucleophilic ring-opening addition of an uncoordinated 3,3-DMT molecule to one of the  $\alpha$ -methylene groups of the bridging 3,3-DMT ligand in 9. This would produce a positive charge at the sulfur atom (a thietanium grouping if one considers the entire four-membered ring of the added 3,3 DMT group). A negative charge will reside at the bridging thiolato sulfur atom. The thietanium ring should be sufficiently reactive to undergo a spontaneous ring-opening addition of second 3.3 DMT molecule to lengthen the chain and generate still another thietanium grouping. Polymerization could ensue, but the reaction evidently terminates itself through an oxidative addition of one of the S-C bonds in the ring to the cluster through a process that also results in the cleavage of one of the osmiumosmium bonds. The ring strain is lost and the reaction is terminated; see Scheme 16. Cationic-ring

#### Scheme 16



opening polymerization of thietanes via sulfonium intermediates is well known.<sup>38</sup>

It occurred to us that if the two ends of the oligomer could be coupled by the formation of a carbon-sulfur bond then a trithioether macrocycle (thiacrown ether) would be formed. Conceivably, such a process could even be performed catalytically. Thiacrown ethers are emerging as an important new class of polydentate ligands.<sup>39</sup> If the thiacrown ether could be removed from the cluster, then perhaps a catalytic system could be designed for the formation of these molecules.

All attempts to connect the two ends of the thioether chain in this molecule were unsuccessful. When **41** was heated to 125 °C in octane solvent, it was decarbonylated and two isomers  $Os_3(CO)_9[(\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CMe<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>3</sub>] (**42** and **43**) containing closed triosmium clusters were formed, but closure of the organic ring did not occur.<sup>21</sup>



Attempts were also made to expel the ligand from compounds **41** and **43** by carbonylation at 120 °C and 650 psi of CO, but only carbonylation of the osmium– carbon terminus and the formation of the compounds **44** and **45** with bridging acyl groups occurred.<sup>21</sup>



Fortunately, the reaction of the bridging thietane ligand in **10b** with thietane took a different course.



Three products were formed by the addition of thietane to **10b**, and they were formed by the addition of 3, 4, and 6 equiv of thietane, respectively. They have been identified as  $Re_3(CO)_{10}[\mu$ -SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>- $\dot{S}CH_2CH_2SCH_2CH_2CH_2CH_2SCH_2CH_2\dot{C}H_2(\mu-H)_3$  (46),  $\operatorname{Re}_{3}(\operatorname{CO})_{10}[\mu\operatorname{-SCH}_{2}\operatorname{C$  $CH_2)SCH_2CH_2CH_2](\mu-H)_3$  (47), and  $Re_3(CO)_{10}[\mu-SCH_2-$ CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>(SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>4</sub>SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>]- $(\mu$ -H)<sub>3</sub> (48), respectively.<sup>40</sup> Compound 46 was characterized crystallographically in the form of its PMe<sub>2</sub>Ph derivative, and an ORTEP drawing of its molecular structure is shown in Figure 6. The molecule consists of a closed cluster of three rhenium atoms with nine linear terminal carbonyl ligands and one PMe<sub>2</sub>Ph ligand. Each metal-metal bond contains one bridging hydride ligand, but by far the most interesting ligand is the thiolato ligand. The thiolato sulfur bridges two of the rhenium atoms. It is connected to a trimethylene chain that is terminated with a 1,5,9-trithiacyclododecane (12S3) loop which is positively charged at the sulfur atom S(2). Compounds 47 and 48 are believed to be structurally similar with bridging thiolate chains terminated by 1,5,9,13-tetrathiacyclohexadecane (16S4) and 1,5,9,-13,17,21-hexathiacyclotetracosane (24S6) loops. The mechanism of formation of 46 is believed to be similar to that of the formation of **41** except for the termination step; see Scheme 17. Instead of adding to the cluster via a ring-opening oxidative addition of one of the carbon–sulfur bonds of the thietanium ring, the thietanium ring is opened by the thioether sulfur atom that is positioned most closely to the thiolato sulfur atom. This results in the formation of the 12membered ring and a sulfonium center. An important question is, "Why did the thietanium ring opening not occur at the trirhenium cluster"? We can

Scheme 17



only conclude that since each of the metal-metal bonds in this cluster are bridged by hydride ligands, these bridging hydride ligands somehow protect the cluster from attack by the thietanium grouping. A second important question is, "Why does ring formation preclude a simple polymerization reaction"? This may be related to the zwitterionic character of the intermediates. The ring-opening site is positively

Scheme 18

charged while the thiolato terminus is negatively charged. Presumably, the two ends of the chain remain proximate to one another as the chain grows. At certain chain lengths ring closure becomes favorable and cyclization then occurs.

## 8. The Catalytic Cyclooligomerization of Thietanes

The challenge remaining was to remove the macrocycle from the SCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub> tether and if possible to try to develop that into a catalytic process. Removal of the ring was not difficult to achieve. A variety of bases (e.g. alkoxides and pyridine) were quite effective, but these bases then replaced the macrocycle at the terminal  $CH_2$  site. They are strongly attached and all attempts to produce catalysis in their presence were unsuccessful. The breakthrough came when we finally attempted to cleave the macrocycle from the tether using thietane in a pure form. The complex was dissolved using the thietane as solvent, and when heated to reflux (94 °C) macrocycles were formed in large quantities. In a typical run, 1.179 of macrocycles were produced from a 17 mg quantity of **46** in 48 h. The mixture of macrocycles consisted mostly of 24S6, but there were also large amounts of 12S3. The mole ratio 24S6/ 12S3 was 1.78/1.41 16S4 was a very minor component. There was no evidence for the formation of macrocycles produced by the cyclooligomerization of two, five, or more than six thietane molecules. Some insoluble material was formed which was assumed to be polymer. Catalytic cycles for the formation of 12S3 and 24S6 by this catalyst are shown in Scheme 18.

Much of the process is similar to that shown in Scheme 17 for the formation of **46**. A similar process



to form **48** is anticipated. The slow steps in the processes are the cleavage of the macrocycles from the tether by a free molecule of thietane. These steps lead to the regeneration of the intermediate species **D** which then proceeds quickly to generate another molecule of **46** or **48** and so on. 3,3-DMT can be cyclooligomerized to 3,3,7,7,11,11,15,15,19,19,23,23-dodecamethyl-1,5,9,13,17,21-hexathiacyclotetracosane (Me<sub>12</sub>-24S6) but there was no evidence for the formation of macrocyclic rings of any other sizes.

We have recently shown that the thietane contain-

ing dirhenium complex  $\operatorname{Re}_2(\operatorname{CO})_9(\operatorname{SCH}_2\operatorname{CH}_2\operatorname{CH}_2)$  (49) is also capable of producing the cyclooligomerization of thietane catalytically.<sup>42</sup> As with **46**, the catalysis by 49 produces almost exclusively 12S3 and 24S6, but the selectivity for 12S3 formation is substantially higher. In fact, 12S3 is the major product and from a typical run a 12S3/24S6 product mole/mole ratio of 11.4/1 was obtained after 24 h of catalysis.<sup>41</sup> The rate of formation of the macrocycles is comparable to that of 46, and there is little or no competing polymer formation in this system. A kinetic analysis showed a linear first-order dependence on the concentration of 49. The compound  $\text{Re}_2(\text{CO})_9(12\text{S3})$  (50) is formed in the reaction and both compounds appear to be components in the catalytic cycle; see Scheme 19.

#### Scheme 19



Unlike the catalysis initiated by 10b and propagated by 46 and 48, no bridging thietane ligands appear to be involved in this process. The terminally coordinated thietane ligand in 49 appears to be sufficiently activated to undergo a ring-opening addition of a free molecule of thietane, step **a**. The thietanium grouping so produced can react with additional thietane spontaneously, step **b**, and when a chain length favorable for the formation of certain rings is achieved (e.g. step **c**), cyclization occurs by a ring-opening coupling between the metal-bound thiolato sulfur atom and a methylene group of the thietanium ring. The macrocycle that is formed is coordinated directly to one of the rhenium atoms in a terminal coordination mode. The product is released and the catalyst 49 is regenerated by a simple ligand substitution reaction, step **d**. Once again, the preference for cyclooligomerization over polymerization is believed to be due to the zwitterionic character of the intermediates.

We have also just found that the tetraosmium cluster  $Os_4(CO)_{11}(SCH_2CH_2CH_2)(\mu-H)_4$  (**51**) produces the cyclooligomerization of thietanes catalytically with a preference for 12S3, but the selectivity for 12S3 (12S3/24S6 = 6/1) is not quite as high as that of the dirhenium system.<sup>43</sup> The 12S3 complex Os<sub>4</sub>-(CO)<sub>11</sub>(12S3)( $\mu$ -H)<sub>4</sub> (**52**) is formed in the process and appears to be a component in the catalytic cycle; see Scheme 20. As in the dirhenium system, all sulfur-

#### Scheme 20



bound ligands appear to be terminally coordinated. The fact that all of the transformations in the catalytic processes of **49** and **51** occur at the site of a single metal atom is an important observation. It suggests that mononuclear metal complexes should be capable of performing this catalysis as well.

## 9. Coordination of Thietane Cyclooligomers to Metal Clusters

Although the coordination properties of polythioether macrocycles (thia crown ethers) to metal ions have been investigated considerably in recent years,<sup>39</sup> there have been very few reports on the coordination properties of these macrocycles to polynuclear metal carbonyl complexes.<sup>44–48</sup> In this section, emphasis will be placed on polynuclear metal carbonyl complexes that contain macrocycles that can be produced by the cyclooligomerization of thietane.

It has recently been shown that 12S3 can be fully incorporated into the coordination sphere of Ru<sub>3</sub>-



**Figure 7.** An ORTEP diagram of the molecular structure of  $Ru_3(CO)_7(\mu$ -CO)\_2(1,1,1- $\eta^3$ -12S3) (54).

 $(CO)_{12}$  (**53**). This is shown in the complex Ru<sub>3</sub>(CO)<sub>7</sub>-( $\mu$ -CO)<sub>2</sub>(1,1,1- $\eta$ <sup>3</sup>-12S3) (**54**); see Figure 7.<sup>46</sup>



All three sulfur atoms are coordinated to just one metal atom. This differs from the structure of the small ring complex  $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_6(\mu\operatorname{-CO})_3(\mu_3-\eta^3-6\operatorname{S3})$  (55,  $6\operatorname{S3} = 1,3,5$ -trithiacyclohexane where each sulfur atom of the 6S3 ligand is coordinated to a different metal atom). The tendency of polydentate phosphine ligands to favor binding to a single metal atom is well known to increase as the chain length between the donor sites is increased.<sup>49</sup> As shown by the differences in 54 and 55, this property also appears to extend to the coordination of polythioether macrocycles as well. Another interesting feature of the structure of 54 is the presence of two bridging carbonyl ligands across one metal-metal bond.

This type of structure has been observed previously for triiron carbonyl cluster complexes,<sup>50</sup> but has been observed only once before in a triruthenium complex and that was for a tetrasubstituted phosphine derivative of  $\operatorname{Ru}_3(\operatorname{CO})_{12}$ .<sup>51</sup> It is believed that steric effects tend to force carbonyl ligands to assume bridging modes when otherwise they would perfer to be terminal,<sup>52</sup> thus the formation of bridging CO ligands in **54** is attributed to the large steric effects produced by the bulky 12S3 ligand.

The addition of 12S3 to  $\operatorname{Ru}_5(CO)_{15}(\mu_5-C)$  proceeds in a stepwise fashion. The first product to be formed is  $\operatorname{Ru}_5(CO)_{13}(\mu-\eta^1-12S3)(\mu_5-C)$ , **56**. In **56** the 12S3 ligand bridges one edge of the square base of the Ru<sub>5</sub>- $(\mu_5-C)$  cluster by using only one of its sulfur atoms. The other two sulfur atoms are uncoordinated. A similar bridging 12S3 ligand was observed in the tetraosmium cluster complex  $Os_4(CO)_{13}(\mu-\eta^1-12S3)$ - $(\mu_5$ -C) where the sulfur atom bridges the wingtips of a butterfly tetrahedron of four osmium atoms.44 When heated to 125 °C, 56 is transformed into the new compound Ru<sub>5</sub>(CO)<sub>11</sub>( $\mu$ - $\eta$ <sup>3</sup>-12S3)( $\mu$ <sub>5</sub>-C) (**57**) by the loss of two CO ligands and the incorporation of the two remaining sulfur atoms of the 12S3 ligand into the coordination sphere of the cluster. In 57 all three sulfur atoms of the 12S3 ligand are coordinated to one of the basal ruthenium atoms, but one of the sulfur atoms does remain as a bridge between two of the basal metal atoms, Scheme 21. A similarly coordinated 12S3 ligand was observed in the complex  $Ru_6(CO)_{15}(\mu_4-\eta^2-CO)(\mu-\eta^3-12S3).^{44}$ 

Scheme 21



The reaction of Ru<sub>6</sub>(CO)<sub>17</sub>( $\mu_6$ -C) with 12S3 yielded the complex Ru<sub>6</sub>(CO)<sub>13</sub>( $\mu$ - $\eta^3$ -12S3)( $\mu_6$ -C) (**58**), containing an octahedral cluster of six ruthenium atoms with a carbido ligand in the center.<sup>48</sup> The 12S3 ligand in **58** is coordinated to two metal atoms in a manner analogous to that found in **57**. In contrast, the 16S4 ligand in the complex Ru<sub>6</sub>(CO)<sub>15</sub>( $\mu$ - $\eta^2$ -16S4)( $\mu_6$ -C) (**59**)



obtained from the reaction of 16S4 with  $\operatorname{Ru}_6(\operatorname{CO})_{17}$ -( $\mu_6$ -C) has only two of its sulfur atoms coordinated and these are terminally coordinated to different metal atoms. Efforts to bring the uncoordinated sulfur atoms in **59** into the coordination sphere of the metal atoms have not been successful.

Previous studies of the coordination chemistry of polythioether macrocycles have been inhibited by their lack of availability due to the difficult and low yield procedures for their synthesis. It is expected that the catalytic procedures that are now being developed by using the relatively low-cost reagent thietane will make at least some of these ligands more widely available and thus permit a greater exploration of their coordination chemistry.

#### 10. Acknowledgments

This research has been supported by the Office of Basic Energy Sciences of the U. S. Department of Energy and in part by The Petroleum Research Fund, administered by the American Chemical Society.

#### 11. References

- (1) (1) Greenberg, A.; Liebman, J. F. Strained Organic Molecules; Academic Press: New York, 1978; pp 133-138.
- (2) (a) Van der Plas, H. C. Ring Transformations of Heterocycles; Academic Press: New York, 1973; Vol. 1, (b) Hassner, A. Ed.
- (4) Dittmer, D. C.; Sedergran, T. C. In Small Ring Heterocycles, Part 3; Hassner, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1985; Vol. 42, Chapter 5, р 43**1**.
- (5) (a) Sigwalt, P. Pure Appl. Chem. 1976, 48, 257. (b) Cooper, W.; (a) Sigwait, I. I. Wragg, R. T. Eur. Polym. J. 1969, 5, 71. (c) Noshay, A.; Price, C. C. J. Polym. Sci. 1961, 54, 533.
   (b) Roberts, J. T.; Friend, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 7899.
   (c) (a) Calet, S.; Alper, H. Tetrahedron Lett. 1986, 27, 3573. (b)
- Morrow, J. R.; Tonker, T. L.; Templeton, J. L. Organometallics 1985, 4, 745. (c) Lorenz, I.-P.; Messelauser, J.; Hiller, W.; Conrad,
- 1953, 4, 145. (c) Lorenz, 1.-F.; Messelauser, J.; Hiller, W.; Cohrad, M. J. Organomet. Chem. 1986, 316, 121.
  (a) King, R. B. Inorg. Chem. 1963, 2, 326. (b) Adams, R. D. Polyhedron 1985, 4, 2003. (c) Adams, R. D.; Babin, J. E.; Tasi, M. Inorg. Chem. 1986, 25, 4514.
  (9) Block, E. Comprehensive Heterocyclic Chemistry; Pergamon Press: New York, 1984; Vol.7, p 403.
  (10) (a) Roberts, J. T.; Friend, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1987, 109, 2872. (b) Caharda M. L: Hoffmann R : Friend C. M. J. Am.
- (3) Xi (1) Calhorda, M. J.; Hoffmann R.; Friend, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 50. (c) Friend, C. M.; Roberts, J. T. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 394. (d) Friend, C. M.; Roberts, J. T. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 491.
- (11) Lawrence, A. H.; Liao, C. C.; DeMayo, P.; Ramamurthy, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 2219.
- (12) (a) Sánchez, A.; Marco, C.; Fatou, J. G.; Bello, A. Eur. Polym. J. 1988, 24, 355. (b) Lazcano, S.; Marco, C.; Fatou, J. G.; Bello, A. Eur. Polym. J. **1988**, 24, 991. (c) Lazcano, S.; Bello, A.; Marco, C.; Fatou, J. G. Eur. Polym. J. **1988**, 24, 985.
- (13) Abel, E. W.; Booth, M.; Orrell, K. G. J. Chem Soc., Dalton Trans. 1979, 1994.
- (14) Abel, E. W.; Bhargava, S. K.; Orrell, K. G. Prog. Inorg. Chem. 1984, 32, 1
- (15) (a) Adams, R. D.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics 1990, 9, 1718. (b) Adams, R. D.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics 1992, 11, 2281.
  (16) Park, H.; Draganjac, M.; Scott, S. R.; Cordes, A. W.; Eggleton,
- G. Inorg. Chim. Acta **1994**, 221, **1**57.
- (17) Karakida, K.; Kuchitsu, K. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1975, 48, 1691. (18) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A.; Schierlman, J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
- 1991, 113, 9004 (19) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A.; Chen, L. Organometallics 1992, 11, 4104.
- (20) Bremer, G.; Boese, R.; Keddo, M.; Kruck, T. Z. Naturforsch. 1986, 41b, 98**1**.
- (21) Adams, R. D.; Pompeo, M. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 1619.
- (22) Adams, R. D.; Cortopassi, J. E.; Falloon, S. B. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3794.
- (23) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A. Organometallics 1992, 11, 2488.
  (24) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics
- 1992, 11, 2016.

- (25) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3129.
- (26) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A. J. Cluster Sci. 1990, 1, 319.
- (27) Adams, R. D.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics 1992, 11, 103.
- (28) Gabay, J.; Dietz, S.; Bernatis, P.; Rakowski DuBois, M. Organometallics 1993, 12, 3630.
- Matsunaga, P. T.; Hillhouse, G. L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. (29)1994, 33, 1748.
- Fischer, H.; Kalbas, C.; Troll, C. Fluck, K. H. Z. Naturforsch. (30)1993, 48b, 1613.
- (31) Fischer, H.; Kalbas, C.; Hofmann, J. J. Chem Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 1050.
- (32) Wang, M. D.; Calet, S.; Alper, H. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 20. (33) Adams, R. D.; Belinski, J. A.; Yamamoto, J. H. Organometallics 1992, 11, 3422.
- (34) Adams, R. D. J. Cluster Sci. 1992, 3, 263.
- (35) Adams, R. D.; Pompeo, M. P. Organometallics 1992,11, 1460.
- Boorman, P. M.; Gao, X.; Fait, J. F.; Parvez, M. Inorg. Chem. (36)1991, 30, 3886.
- (37)Yamamoto, J. H.; Yap, G. P. A.; Jensen, C. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 5060.
- (a) Goethals, E. J.; Drijvers, W.; Van Ooteghem, D.; Buyle, A. (38)M. J. Macromol. Sci. Chem. 1973, A7, 1375. (b) Goethals, E. J.; VanMeirvenne, D.; Trossaert, G.; Deveux, R. Makromol. Chem. Macromol. Symp. 1990, 32, 11. (c) Goethals, E. J. Makromol. Chem. Macromol. Symp. 1991, 42-43, 51.
- Cooper, S. R. In Crown Compounds: Towards Future Applica-(39)tions; Cooper, S. R., Ed.; VCH Publishers: New York, 1992; Chapter 15. (b) Cooper, S. R.; Rawle, S. C. Struc. Bonding 1990, 72, 1. (c) Blake, A. J.; Schroeder, M. Adv. Inorg. Chem. 1990, 35, 1. (d) Cooper, S. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1988, 21, 141.
- (40) (a) Adams, R. D.; Falloon, S. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10540. (b) Adams, R. D.; Cortopassi, J. E.; Falloon, S. B. J. Organomet. Chem. 1993, 463, C5.
- (41) The mole/mole ratio given here is twice the NMR integration ratio that reported previously.40a,42
- (42) Adams, R. D.; Falloon, S. B. Organometallics 1995, 14, 1748.
- (43) Adams, R. D.; Falloon, S. B. Organometallics, in press.
- Edwards, A. J.; Johnson, B. F. G.; Khan, F. K.; Lewis, J.; Raithby, P. R. J. Organomet. Chem. **1992**, 426, C44. (44)
- Rossi, S.; Kallinen, K.; Pursianinen, J.; Pakkanen, T. T.; Pakkanen, T. A. J. Organomet. Chem. **1992**, 440, 367. (45)
- (46) Adams, R. D.; Yamamoto, J. H. Organometallics, in press.
- (47) Adams, R. D.; Falloon, S. B.; McBride, K. T. Organometallics 1994, 13, 4870.
- Adams, R. D.; Falloon, S. B.; McBride, K. T. Organometallics (48)1995. 14. 1739.
- (49) (a) Chaudret, B.; Delavaux, B.; Poilblanc, R. Coord. Chem. Rev. 1988, 86, 191. (b) Puddephatt, R. J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1983, 12, 99.
- (50) (a) Cotton, F. A.; Troup, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 4155. (b) Braga, D.; Grepioni, F.; Farrugia, L. J.; Johnson, B. F. G. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 2911. (c) Wei, C. H.; Dahl, L. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 1351.
- (51) Bruce, M. I.; Matisons, J. G.; Patrick, J. M.; White, A. H.; Willis, A. C. J. Chem. Soc, Dalton Trans. 1985, 1223
- (52) Lauher, J. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 1521.

CR9402438